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Christopher Man 
Cari Stinebo" er 
\\'inston & Stra\, 11 LLP 
190 I I St.. N.W. 
Washington. D.C. 20036 

Re: 

Dear Counsel: 

l J.S. Depanmem of .I ustice 

:vlatthcw M. Grave:, 
United Stntt.::, Allomey 

{)/stritt u( Co/11111hio 

/1111n.:J. llrnr;,. /Jwldmx 
4111/lSr . .V II 
II (11/,,n~ron /t( )OjJO 

/\.·larch 16. 2023 

United Stales r. Sill': Roimt Limited 

FILED 
APR I 9 2023 

Clerk. u S D1s111c1 & 9anKruptcy 
C01JrtS 1or !be 01S1CIC! o! Columbia 

This leucr sets forth the full and complete pica offer to your cl ient, Suc7 Rajan I .imitcd 
(hereinafter referred 10 as " you r client" or "delcndunt"·). from the Office of' tht: United States 
Auurnt:y fort he District of' Columbia and the National Security Division ol" the United States 
Department of .lust ice (' 'NSlY') (collccti vdy. "thl: Government·· or "the~c Offices" ). Ir) our 
client accept~ the 1cnns and condi tions of this offer, nn autlrnri,cd rcprcscnlllti vc or your client 
and you should execute this document in the spaces provided below. 

Please include a notarized copy of the resolution of the Board of Directors of your client 
which states that yolll· c l ient has ::iuthor izcd this pica agn:1.:111cn1 and lws empowered you as i ts 
outside counsel lo act 0 11 its bchalfror purposes of this pica. 

Upon receipt of'thc executed documc111, this lcllcr wi l l heco111c the Pica /\grccmcnt 
(hercinafh:r rcforrcd to as "this Agree111c111'·). fhis pica offer expires on March 30, 2023. 

This is a pica agreement pursuant t(l 1-'cdcral Ruic of Criminal Procedure 11 (c)(I )(C). The 
terms of the plea offer arc as follows: 

I. Charges und Staluton' Pcnnllics 

Your cl ient agrees to wa ive indictment and enter a pica of guilty to H criminal 
Information, a copy of which is altacht:d. charging yom cl ient with conspiracy to violate the 
International Emergency Economic Powers Act (" IEEJ>/\ "), 50 U.S.C. § 170 I , et seq. Your 
client agrc1.:s that the Information w i l l be filed in the United States District Coun for the District 
of' Columbia. 
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Your client understands that a violation of the IEEPA, 50 U.S.C. § 1701, et seq. , carries a 
maximum fine of $1,000,000, or a fine of twice the gross gain or gross loss, whichever is greater, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3571 (d). Your client may also be subject to a term of corporate probation 
of not less than one year and not more than five years pursuant to 18 U .S.C. § 3561. The Cou1i 
may also order restitution pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3663. Fines imposed by the Court may have 
an obligation to pay any applicable interest or penalties on fines and restitution not timely made. 

ln addition, your client agrees to pay a special assessment of$400 per felony conviction 
to the Clerk of the United States District Court for the District of Columbia pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
§ 3013(a)(2)(B). Your client a lso understands that, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3572, the Court may 
also impose a fine that is sufficient to pay the federal government the costs of any period of 
probation. 

The Government and your client agree to request waiver of a presentence report and an 
expedited sentencing from the Court in accordance with this Agreement and agree to advise the 
Court that the parties are supplying sufficient information for the Court to exercise its sentencing 
authority under 18 U.S.C. § 3553, such that no presentence report is necessary in accordance 
with Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32(c)(l)(A)(ii). 

2. Factual Stipulations 

Your client agrees that the attached "Statement of Offense" fairly and accurately 
describes your client's actions and involvement in the offense to which your client is pleading 
guilty. Please have your client sign and return the Statement of Offense as a written proffer of 
evidence, along with this Agreement. 

Your client agrees to appear before the Court through an authorized representative and to 
admit its guilt to the offense charged in the lnformatjon. Your client agrees to accept the 
Statement of Offense attached hereto as the basis for its admission of guilt, and admit these facts 
when its plea is entered before the Court. This Agreement is contingent on your client's 
acceptance of the Statement of Offense. 

3. Additional Charges 

ln consideration of your client's guilty plea to the above offense, your client will not be 
further prosecuted criminally by these Offices for the conduct set forth in the attached Statement 
of Offense. 

The parties to this Agreement are your client and these Offices. This Agreement does not 
provide protections lo individuals and entities other than your client: nothing in this Agreement 
provides any protection against prosecution of any present or former director, officer, employee, 
shareholder, agent, consultant, reference, contractor, or subcontractor of your client for any 
violations. Moreover, this Agreement does not bind any other branch of the Department of 
Justice or any other federal, state, or local prosecuting, administrative, or regulatory authority. 
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4. Agreed Sentence Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 
J l(c)(l)(C) 

As you are aware, concurrently with the execution of this plea agreement, Empire 
Navigation Inc. ("Empire") is entering into a Deferred Prosecution Agreement ("DPA") re lating 
to its culpability for the same conduct as described in the Statement of Offense in which it has 
assumed the obi igation to be jointly and severally liable for any fine assessed in this matter. 
Further, as part of that DPA, Empire is agreeing to a Framework Agreement, which provides 
detailed terms and conditions of the transportation of certain contraband crude oil to the United 
States under d irection of the United States in exchange for receiving an offset of the fine 
assessed in this matter. 

Pursuant to Rule 11 (c)(l)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, your client and 
the Government agree that a $2,457,467.90 criminal fine and a pt:rio<l of thn:t: yt:ars of corporalt: 
probation with terms discussed in the exhibit lo this Agreement and which mirror tht: terms of 
Empire's DP A to run concurrently with the term of that DP A is the appropriate sentence for the 
offense to which your client is pleading guilty and should be imposed by the Court in connection 
with your client's guilty plea to the Information, taking into account the inapplicability of the 
Sentencing Guidelines, the nature and circumstances of the offense, the need for the sentence 
imposed to reflect the seriousness of the offense, and the need for the sentence to promote 
respect for the law, to provide just punishment for the offense, and to afford adequate deterrence 
to other criminal conduct, as wt:11 as for the sentence imposed to protect the public from further 
crimes. 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)(I ). Your client and the Government agree that this is a reasonable 
and appropriate sentence, which is sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to achieve the 
purposes of sentencing in light of the factors set forth under 18 U.S.C. §§ 3553(a) and 3572. 
Your client acknowledges that no tax deductions may be sought in connection with the payment 
of the criminal fine. 

Except as may otherwise be agreed by the parties hereto in connection with a particular 
transaction, your client agrees that if at any time while it has obligations under this Agreement 
your client sells, merges, or transfers all or suhstantial ly all of its business operations as they 
exist as of the date of this Agreement, whether such sale is structured as a stock or asset sale, 
merger, or transfer, your client shall include in any contract for sale, merger, or transfer a 
provision fu lly binding the purchaser(s) or any successor(s) in interest thereto to the guarantees 
and obligations described in this Agreement. 

A. Acceptance of Agreement by the Court 

The Government agrees, pursuant to Rule 1 l(c)(l)(C), to present this Agreement between 
the parties to the Court for its approval. In accordance with Rule 1 l(c)(4) and (S), the Court may 
accept or reject this Agreement. If the Court accepts this Agreement, the Court w ill sentence 
your c lient to a fine of $2,457,467.90 and three years of corporate probation with terms discussed 
in the Exhibit and which mirror the terms of Empire' s DPA to run concurrently with the term of 
that DPA. Your c lient understands that if the Court accepts this Agreement, then the Court wi ll 
embody in the j udgment and sentence the disposition provided for in this Agreement, pursuant to 
Rule l l(c)(4) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 
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B. Rejection of this Agreement by the Court 

The parties understand that the Court may not agree that the sentence agreed to by the 
parties is an appropriate one and may reject this Agreement pursuant to Rule l l(c)(5) of the 
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Your client understands that if this happens, the Court, in 
accordance with the requirements of Ruic 11 (c)(5), will inform the parties of its rejection of this 
Agreement, and will afford your client an opportunity to withdraw the plea or maintain the plea. 
If your client elects to maintain the plea, the Court will inform your client that a final disposition 
may be less favorable to your client than that contemplated by this Agreement. Your client 
further understands that if the Court rejects this Agreement, the Government also has the right to 
withdraw from this Agreement and to be freed from all obligations under this Agreement, and 
may in its sole discretion bring different or additional charges before your client enters any guilty 
plea in thi s case. 

Tfthe Court rejects this Agreement, your client elects to maintain this plea, and the 
Government does not exercise its right to withdraw from this Agreement, the parties agree that 
your client will be sentenced upon consideration ofthc factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a). 
Your client further understands that, in such case, the sentence to be imposed is a matter solely 
within the discretion of the Court, and the Court is not obligated to follow any recommendation 
of the Govern men I at the time of sentencing. 

5. Sentencing Guidelines Analysis 

In accordance with Paragraph 4 above, your client understands that, but for the above 
described agreed sentence pursuant to Rule 1 l(c)(l)(C), the sentence in this case would be 
determined by the Court, pursuant to the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C . § 3553(a), including a 
consideration of the United States Sentencing Commission, Guidelines Manual (2021) 
(hereinafter "Sentencing Guidelines," "Guidelines," or "U.S.S.G.") and policies promulgated by 
the Sentencing Guidelines. Pursuant to Federa l Rule of Criminal Procedure J l(c)(l)(B), and to 
assist the Court in determining the appropriate sentence, the parties agree that your client's 
sentence is not governed by the Sentencing Guidelines because the fine provisions of Chapter 8 
of t he Sentencing Guidelines do not apply to violations of the LEEPA committed by business 
organizations. Pursuant to Appendix A of the St:nlem:ing Guidelines, violations of 50 U.S.C . 
§ 1705 are governed by Section 2M5 .1. Section 8C2. l provides that the fine provisions outlined 
in Section 8C2.2 through 8C2.9 apply only to violations of enumerated offenses, which do not 
include Section 21\15.1. 

In the absence of an applicable Sentencing Guideline, the provision for an alternative fine 
based on gain or loss in 18 U.S.C. § 357l(d) and forfeiture under 18 U.S.C. § 98l(a)(l)(C) and 
28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) apply to the IEEPA violation. The alternative fine provision provides in full 
as follows: "lf any person derives pecuniary gain from the offense, or if the offense rc::sults in 
pecuniary loss to a person other than the defendant, the defendant may be fined not mure than the 
greater of twice the gross gain or twice the gross loss, unless imposition of a fine under this 
subsection would unduly complicate or prolong the sentencing process." 18 U.S.C . § 3571 (d). 
Your client and the Government agree that for the offense at issue in this plea, " twice the gross 
gain" is $2,457,467.90. 
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Furthermore, any property that is derived from proceeds traceable to a violation of the 
IEEPA is criminally forfeitable pursuant to 18 L .S.C. § 981 (a)( 1 )(C) incorporated through 28 
U.S.C. § 246l(c). 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 98l(a)(l)(C), as incorporated by 28 U.S.C. § 246l(c), upon 
conviction of 50 U.S.C. § 1705, any property traceable to such a violation is forfeitable to the 
United States. If any of the traceable property cannot be located, has been transferred or sold to, 
or deposited with a third party, placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court, has been substantially 
diminished in value, or has been commingled with other property, the United States shall be 
entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 21 U .S C. § 853(p), as incorporated by 18 
U.S.C . § 982(b)(I) and 28 U.S.C. § 246l(c). 

6. Court Not Bound by this Agreement or the Sentencing Guidelines 
(applicable only when Rule 1 l(c)(l)(C) plea is rejected) 

In accordance with Paragraph 4 above, should the Court reject this Agreement, your 
client elect to maintain the plea, and the Government fail to exercise its right to withdraw from 
this Agreement, the parties further agree that.the fine and forfeiture described in Paragraph 4 
would constitute a reasonable sentence in light of all of the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. 
§ 3553(a), should such a sentence be subject to appellate review notwithstanding the appeal 
waiver provided below. 

Your client understands that should the Court reject this Agreement, your client elect to 
maintain the plea, and the Government fail to exercise its right to withdraw from this Agreement, 
the sentence in this case will be imposed in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), upon 
consideration of the Sentencing Guidelines. Your client further understands that the sentence to 
be imposed is a matter solely within the discretion of the Court. Your client acknowledges that 
the Court is not obligated to follow any recommendation of the Government at the time of 
sentencing. Your client understands that neither the Government's recommendation nor the 
Sentencing Guidelines are binding on the Court. 

Your client acknowledges that should the Court reject this Agreement, your client elect to 
maintain the plea, and the Government fail to exercise its r ight to withdraw from this Agreement, 
your client's entry of a guilty pica to the charged offense authorizes the Court to impose any 
sentence, up to and including the statutory maximum sentence. The Government cannot, and 
dues nut, mak.e:: any promise:: or rt:pre::se::nlaliun as lo what senlem:e yuur clienl will rt:<.:eive should 
the Court reject this Agreement, your client elect to maintain the plea, and the Government fail to 
exercise its right to withdraw from this Agreement. Moreover, it is understood that your client 
will have no right to withdraw your client's plea of guilty should the Court not follow the 
Government's sentencing recommendation. 

7. Reservation of Allocution 

The Government and your client reserve the right to describe fully, both orally and in 
writing, to the sentencing judge, the nature and seriousness of your client' s misconduct, 
including any misconduct not described in the charges to which your client is pleading guilty, to 
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inform the presentence report writer (should the Court order a presentence report) and the Court 
of any relevant facts, to dispute any factual inaccuracies in the presentence report, and to contest 
any matters not provided for in this Agreement. The parties also reserve the right to address the 
correctness of any Sentencing Guidelines calculations delermined by the presentence report 
writer or the court, even if those calculations differ from lhe analysis herein. In the event that the 
Court or the presentence report writer considers any Sentencing Guidelines adjustments, 
departures, or calculations different from those agreed to and/or estimated in this Agreement, or 
contemplates a sentence outside the Guidelines range based upon the general sentencing factors 
listed in 18 C.S.C. § 3553(a), the parties reserve the right to answer any related inquiries from 
the Court or the presentence report writer and to allocute for a sentence within the Guidelines 
range, as ultimately determined by the Court, even if the Guidelines range ultimately determined 
by the Cou11 is different from what is calculated herein. 

In addition, if in this Agreement the parties have agreed to recommend or refrain from 
recommending to the Court a particular resolution of any sentencing issue, the parties reserve the 
right to full allocution in any post-sentence litigation. The parties retain the full right of 
allocution in connection with any post-sentence motion which may be filed in this matter and/or 
any proceed ing(s) before the Oureau of Prisons. In addition, your client acknowledges that the 
Government is not obligated and does not intend to file any post-sentence downward depa,ture 
motion in lhis case pursuant to Rule 35(b) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

8. \Vaivers 

A. Venue 

Your client waives any challenge to venue in the District of Columbia. 

B. Statute of Limitations 

Your client agrees that, should the conviction following your client's plea of guilty 
pursuant to this Agreement be vacated for any reason, any prosecution, based on the conduct set 
forth in the attached Statement of Offense, that is not time-barred by the applicable statute of 
limitalions on the date of lhc signing oflhis Agreement (including any counls lhat the 
Government has agreed not to prosecute or to dism iss at sentencing pursuant to this Agreement) 
may be commenced or reinstated against your c lient, notwithstanding the expiration of the statute 
of limitations between the signing of this Agreement and the commencement or re instatement of 
such prosecution. It is the intent of thi s Agreement to waive all defenses based on the statute of 
limitations with respect to any prosecution of conduct set forth in the attached Statement of 
Offense that is not time-barred on the date that this Agreement is signed. 

C. Trial Rights 

Your c lient understands that by pleading guilty in this case your client agrees to waive 
certain rights afforded by the Const itution of the United States and/or by statute or rule. Your 
client agrees to forego the right to any further discovery or disclosures of information not already 
provided at the time of the entry of your client's guilty plea. Your c lient also agrees to waive, 
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among other rights, the right to be indicted by a Grand Jury, the right to plead not guilty, and the 
right to a jury trial. If there were a jury trial , your cl ient would have the right to be represented by 
counsel, to confront and cross-examine witnesses against your client, to challenge the 
admissibility of evidence offered against your client, to compel witnesses to appear for the 
purpose of testifying and presenting other evidence on your c lient's behalf, and to choose 
whether to testify. If there were a jury trial and your client chose not to test ify at that trial, your 
client would have the right to have the jury instructed that your client's fai lure to testify could 
not be held against your client. Your client would further have the right to have the jury 
instructed that your client is presumed innocent until proven guilty, and that the burden wou Id be 
on the United States to prove your client's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. If your client were 
found guilty after a trial, your client would have the right to appeal your client' s conviction. 
Your client understands that the Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States 
protects your client from the use of self-incriminating statements in a criminal prosecution. By 
entering a plea of guilty, your client knowingly and voluntarily waives or g ives up your client's 
right against self-incrimination. 

Your client acknowledges discussing with you Rule l l(f) of the Federal Rules of 
Criminal Procedure and Rule 410 of the Federal Rules of Evidence, which ordinari ly limit the 
admissibility of statements made by a defendant in the course of plea discussions or plea 
proceedings if a guilty plea is later withdrawn. Your client knowingly and voluntarily waives the 
rights that arise under these rules in the event your client withdraws your client's guilty plea or 
withdraws from this Agreement after signing ii, except that your c lient does noL waive these 
rights under the rules if the Court rejects this Agreement under Rule 11 (c)(5). 

Your client also agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory rights to a speedy 
sentence and agrees that the plea of guilty pursuant to this Agreement w ill be entered at a time 
decided upon by the parties with the concurrence of the Court. Your client understands that the 
date for sentencing will be set by the Court. 

D. Appeal Rights 

Your client agrees to waive, insofar as such waiver is permitted by law, the right to 
appeal the conviction in this case on any basis, including but not limited to claim(s) that (1) the 
statute to which your client is pleading guilty is unconstitutional, and (2) the admitted conduct 
does not fall w ithin the scope of the statute. Your client understands that federal law, specifically 
18 U.S.C. § 3742, affords defendants the right to appeal their sentences in cenain circumstances. 
Your client also agrees to waive the right to appeal the sentence in this case, including but not 
limited to any fine, forfeiture, award of restitution, and the manner in which the sentence was 
determ ined, except to the extent the Court sentences your client above the statutory maximum or 
guidelines range determined by the Court. In agreeing to this waiver, your client is aware that 
your client's sentence has yet to be dctcnnincd by the Court. Realizing the uncertainty in 
estimating what sentence the Court ultimately will impose, your client knowingly and wi llingly 
waives your clit:nt's right Lu appt:al the st:nten~t:, to the ex.tt:nl noted abovt:, in ex~hange for the 
concessions made by the Government in this Agreement. Notwithstanding the above agreement 
to waive the right to appeal the conviction and sentence, your c lient retains the right to appea l on 
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the basis of ineffective assistance of counsel, but not to raise on appeal other issues regard ing the 
conviction or sentence. 

E. Collateral Attack 

Your client also waives any right to challenge the conviction entered or sentence imposed 
under this Agreement or otherwise attempt to modify or change the sentence or the manner in 
which it was determined in any collateral attack, except to the extent such a motion is based on 
newly discovered evidence or on a claim that your client received ineffective assistance of 
counsel. 

9. Use of Self-Incriminating Information 

The Government and your client agree, in accordance with U.S.S.G. § 181.8, that the 
Government will be free to use against your client for any purpose at the sentencing in this case 
or in any related criminal or civil proceedings, any self-incriminating information provided by 
your client pursuant to this Agreement or during the course of debriefings conducted in 
anticipation of this Agreement, regardless of whether those debriefings were previously covered 
by an "off the record" agreement by the parties. 

I 0. Restitution 

The parties agree that no restitution is owed in this case. 

11. Forfeiture 

Your client agrees that the facts set forth in the Statement of Offense and admitted by your 
client establish that your client received proceeds traceable to the conduct described in the 
Statement of Offense. Your client consents to the entry of a Consent Order of Forfeiture and agrees 
that it shall be final as to your client at the time of sentencing and become part of the sentence 
pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2(b)(4)(A). 

Regarding any asset or property, your client agrees to forfeiture of all interest in: (1) any 
and all property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the 
violation to which it is pleading guilty; and (2) any subslilule assets fur properly otherwise subjel:l 
lo forfeiture. See 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(l)(C), (G); 21 U.S.C. § 853(p); 28 U.S.C. § 2461. The 
Government may choose in its sole discretion how it wishes to accomplish forfeiture of the 
property whose forfeiture your client has consented to in this Agreement, whether by criminal or 
civil forfeiture, using judicial or non-judicial forfeiture processes. If the Government chooses to 
etlect the forfeiture provisions of this Agreement through the criminal forfeiture process, your 
client agrees to the entry of orders of forfeiture for such property and waives the requirements of 
Federal Ruic of Criminal Procedure 32.2 regarding notice of the forfeiture in the charging 
instrument, annoum;errnml oflhe f01feiture at sentencing, and incorporation of the f01feiture in the 
judgment. Your client understands that the forfeiture of assets is part of the sentence that may he 
imposed in this case. 
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If the Government chooses to effect the forfeiture provisions of this Agreement through 
the civil forfeiture process, your client disclaims all ownership interest in the contraband cargo 
aboard the Suez Rajan, and agrees not to file a claim to the cargo. Your client also agrees to assist 
and cooperate with the United States in responding to any third-party claims. 

Your client agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory challenges in any manner 
(including, but not limited to, direct appeal) to any forfeiture carried out in accordance with this 
Agreement on any grounds, including that the forfeiture constitutes an excessive fine or 
punislunent. 

12. Breach of Agreement 

Your client understands and agrees that, if after entering this Agreement, your client fai ls 
specifically to perform or to fulfill completely each and every one of your client's obligations 
under this Agreement, or engages in any criminal activity prior to sentencing, your client will 
have breached this Agreement. In the event of such a breach: (a) the Government will be free 
from its obligations under this Agreement; (b) your client will not have the right to withdraw the 
guilty plea; (c) your client will be fu lly subject to criminal prosecution for any other crimes, 
including perjury and obstruction of justice; and (ct) the Government will be free to use against 
your client, directly and indirectly, in any criminal or civil proceeding, al l statements made by 
your client and any of the information or materials provided by your client, including such 
statements, information and materials provided pursuant to this Agreement or during the course 
of any debriefings conducted in anticipation of, or after entry of, this Agreement, whether or not 
the debriefings were previously characlerizt:d as "olT-tht:-m.:ord" dt:bridings, and including your 
client's statements made during proceedings before the Court pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal 
Rules of Criminal Procedure. 

Your client understands and agrees that the Government shall be required to prove a 
breach of this Agreement only by a preponderance of the evidence, except where such breach is 
based on a violation of federal, state, or local criminal law, which the Government need prove 
only by probable cause in order to establish a breach of this Agreement. 

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to penn it your c lient to commit perjury, to 
make fa lse statements or declarations, to obstruct justice, or to protect your client from 
prosecution for any crimes not included within this Agreement or committed by your client after 
the execution of this Agreement. Your client understands and agrees that the Government 
reserves the right to prosecute your client for any such offenses. Your client further understands 
that any perjury, false statements or declarations, or obstruction of justict: rdating to your dit:nt's 
obligations under this Agret:ment shall constitute a breach of this Agreement. In the event of 
such a breach, your client will not be allowed to withdraw your client's guilty plea. 

13. Public Statements by Company 

Your client expressly agrees that it shall not, through present or foture attorneys, officers, 
directors, employees, agents, or any other person authorized to speak for your client make any 
public statement, in litigation or otherwise, contradicting the acceptance ofresponsibility by your 
client set forth above or the facts described in the attached Statement of Facts. Any such 

Page 9 of12 



Case 1:23-cr-00088-CJN   Document 6   Filed 04/19/23   Page 10 of 12

contradictory statement shall, subject to cure rights described below, constitute a breach of this 
Agreement, and your client thereafter shall be subject to prosecution as set forth in this 
Agreement. The decision whether any public statement by any such person contradicting a fact 
contained in the Statement of Facts will be imputed to your client for the purpose of determining 
whether it has breached this Agreement shall be at the sole discretion of the Offices. If the 
Offices determine that a public statement by any such person contradicts in whole or in part a 
statement contained in the Statement of Facts, the Offices shall so notify your client, and your 
client may avoid a breach of this Agreement by publicly repudiating such statement(s) within 
five business days after notification. Your client shall be permitted to raise defenses and to assert 
affirmative claims in other proceedings relating to the matters set forth in the Statement of Facts 
provided that such defenses and claims do not contradict, in whole or in part, a statement 
contained in the Statement of facts. This Paragraph does not apply to any statement made by any 
present or former officer, director, employee, or agent of your client in the course of any 
criminal, regulatory, or civil case initiated against such individual, unless such individual is 
speaking on behalf of your client. 

Your client agrees that if it or any of its direct or indirect subsidiaries issues a press 
release or holds any press conference in connection with this Agreement, your client shall first 
consult with the Offices to determine (a) whether the text of the re lease or proposed statements at 
the press conference are true and accurate with respect to matters between the Offices and your 
client; and (b) whether the Offices have any objection to the release. Statements by your client, 
or its direct or indirect subsidiaries, at any press conference concerning this matter shall not be 
inconsistent with such a press release. 

The Offices agree, if requested to do so, to bring to the attention of law enforcement and 
regulatory authorities the facts and circumstances relating to the nature of the conduct underlying 
this Agreement, including the nature and quality of your client's cooperation and remediation. 
By agreeing to provide this information to such authorities, the Offices are not agreeing tu 
advocate on behalf of your client, but rather are agreeing to provide facts to be evaluated 
independently hy such authorities. 

I 4. Complete Agreement 

No agreements, promises, understandings, or representations have been made by the 
parties or their counsel other than those contained in writing herein, nor will any such 
agreements, promises, understandings, or representations be made unless committed to writing 
and signed by your client, defense counsel, and an Assistant United States Attorney for the 
District of Columbia. 

Your clit:nl further um.lt:rstamls that this Agreement is binding only upon the Criminal 
and Superior Court Divisions of the United States Attorney's Office for the District of Columbia 
and the National Security Division of the United States Department of Justice. This Agreement 
does not bind the Civil Division of this Office or any other United States Attorney's Office, nor 
does it bind any other state, local, or federal prosecutor. It also does not bar or compromise any 
civil, tax, or administrative claim pending or that may be made against your client. 
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If the forego ing terms and conditions are satisfactory, your client may so indicate by 
signing this Agreement and the Statement of Offense, and returning both to me no later than 
March 30, 2023. 

By: 

By: 

Sincerely yours, 

MATTHEWM. GRAVES 
UNITED ST A TES ATTORNEY 

Stuarl D . Allen 
Rajbir Dalla 
Assistant United States Attorneys 

MATTHEW G. OLSEN 
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 
NATIONAL SECURITY DIVISION 

Q-~_ 
Benjamin J. Hawk 
Deputy Chief 
Counterintelligence and Export Control Section 
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DEFENDANT'S ACCEPTANCE 

I am authorized to act on behalf of Suez Rajan Limited in this matter. 

As the authorized representative for Suez Rajan Limited, I have read every page of this 
Agreement and have discussed it with the attorney for Suez Rajan Limited, Christopher Man. I 
fully understand this Agreement and agree to it on behalf of Suez Rajan Limited without 
reservation. I do this vo luntari ly and of my own free will, intending for Suez Rajan Limited to be 
legally bound. No threats have been made to me or to Suez Rajan Limited, nor am I under the 
influence of anything that could impede my ability to understand this Agreement fully. Suez 
Rajan Limited is pleading guilty because it is in fact guilty of the offense identified in this 
Agreement. 

I reaffirm that absolutely no prom ises, agreements, understandings, or conditions have 
been made or entered into in connection with Suez Rajan Limited to plead guilty except those set 
forth in this Agreement. Suez Rajan Limited and I are satisfied with the legal services provided 
by Suez Rajan Limited's attorney in connection with this Agreement and matters related to it. 

Apostolos Tourkantonis 
Defendant 

ATTORNEY'S ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I have read every page of this Agreement and have reviewed this Agreement with my 
client, Suez Rajan Limited, and fu lly discussed the provisions of this Agreement with my client. 
These pages accurately and completely set forth the entire Agreement. J concur with my client's 
desire to plead guilty as set forth in this Agreement. 

Date: March 17, 2023 
hristopher ~ ~ 

Attorney for Defendant 
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EXHIBIT

[Terms of Corporate Probation] 
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1. Defendant Suez Rajan Limited (the “Company”) shall cooperate fully with the 

Office of the United States Attorney for the District of Columbia and the National Security 

Division of the United States Department of Justice (“NSD”) (collectively, “the Government” or 

“the Offices”) in any and all matters relating to the conduct described in the Plea Agreement with 

the Company (hereinafter referred to as “the Agreement”) and the Statement of Offense and other 

conduct investigated by the Offices, at any time during the term of the Agreement, subject to 

applicable law and regulations, until the conclusion of the Company’s term of corporate probation. 

2. At the request of the Offices, the Company shall also cooperate fully with other 

domestic or foreign law enforcement and regulatory authorities and agencies in any investigation 

of the Company, its parent company or its affiliates, or any of its present or former officers, 

directors, employees, agents, and consultants, or any other party, in any and all matters relating to 

the conduct described in the Agreement and Statement of Offense and other conduct investigated

by the Offices or any other component of the Department of Justice at any time during the term of 

corporate probation, subject to all applicable laws and regulations. The Company’s cooperation 

pursuant to this paragraph is subject to applicable laws and regulations, as well as valid claims of 

attorney-client privilege or attorney work product doctrine; however, the Company must provide 

to the Offices a log of any information or cooperation that is not provided based on an assertion of 

law, regulation, or privilege, and the Company bears the burden of establishing the validity of any 

such assertions. The Company agrees that its cooperation pursuant to this paragraph shall include, 

but not be limited to, the following: 

a. The Company shall truthfully disclose all factual information with respect 

to its activities concerning the conduct described in the Statement of 

Offense, and those of the Company’s present and former directors, officers, 
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employees, agents, contractors and consultants, including any evidence or 

allegations and internal or external investigations, about which the 

Company has or at any time gains any knowledge, or about which the 

Offices may inquire. This obligation of truthful disclosure includes, but is 

not limited to, the obligation of the Company to provide to the Offices, upon 

request, any document, record or other tangible evidence about which the 

Offices may inquire of the Company. 

b. Upon request of the Offices, the Company shall designate knowledgeable 

employees, agents, or attorneys to provide to the Offices the information 

and materials described above on behalf of the Company. It is further 

understood that the Company must at all times provide complete, truthful, 

and accurate information. 

c. The Company shall use its best efforts to make available for interviews or 

testimony, as requested by the Offices, present or former officers, directors, 

employees, agents and consultants of the Company. This obligation 

includes, but is not limited to, sworn testimony before a federal grand jury 

or in federal trials or other federal court proceedings, as well as interviews 

with domestic or foreign law enforcement and regulatory authorities. 

Cooperation under this paragraph shall include identification of witnesses 

who, to the knowledge of the Company, may have material information 

regarding the matters under investigation. 

d. The Company shall use due diligence and good faith efforts to identify 

additional witnesses who, to the Company’s knowledge, may have material 
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information concerning the Company’s conduct as described in the 

Statement of Offense, and notify the Offices thereof.

e. With respect to any information, testimony, documents, records or other 

tangible evidence provided to the Offices pursuant to the Agreement, the 

Company consents to any and all disclosures to other governmental 

authorities, including United States authorities and those of a foreign 

government, of such materials as the Offices, in their sole discretion, shall 

deem appropriate.

f. The Company shall provide information, materials, and testimony as 

necessary or requested to identify or to establish the original location, 

authenticity, or other basis for admission into evidence of documents or 

physical evidence in any criminal or judicial proceeding.  

3. In addition to the obligations above, during the term of corporate probation, should 

the Company’s board of directors, officers, senior management or legal and compliance personnel 

learn of non-frivolous evidence or allegations of any violation of U.S. sanctions laws or regulations 

by the Company or any of its employees acting within or outside of the scope of their employment, 

the Company shall promptly report such evidence or allegations to the Offices. The Company shall 

likewise bring to the Offices’ attention any administrative, regulatory, civil, or criminal proceeding 

or investigation of the Company relating to sanction laws of any other jurisdiction. Nothing in the 

Agreement shall be construed to require the Company to produce any information, documents, 

records or tangible evidence that are protected by the attorney-client privilege, the work product 

doctrine, or other applicable confidentiality, criminal or data protection laws, or are subject to the 

rules and regulations of the Company’s regulators regarding the disclosure of confidential 
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supervisory information, or to otherwise take any steps in violation any applicable laws and 

regulations.

4. The Company represents that it has implemented and will continue to implement a 

compliance program designed to prevent and detect violations of U.S. sanctions laws and 

regulations, including IEEPA, throughout its operations, that are subject to sanctions administered 

by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”).

5. In order to address any deficiencies in its sanctions compliance program, the 

Company represents that it has undertaken, and will continue to undertake in the future, the 

following sanctions compliance obligations:  

a. Continue to screen U.S. dollar transactions and currency conversions that 

transit the United States or any transactions involving U.S. persons against 

OFAC’s Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List;

b. Continue to not knowingly undertake any transactions prohibited by U.S. 

sanctions laws and regulations; 

c. Continue to complete global sanctions training, covering United States, 

United Nations, United Kingdom, and European Union sanctions and trade 

control laws for all relevant employees;  

d. Continue to apply and implement compliance procedures and training 

designed to ensure that the Company’s compliance officer in charge of 

sanctions is made aware in a timely manner of attempts by any person or 

entity (including, but not limited to, the Company’s employees, customers, 

financial institutions, companies, organizations, groups, or persons) to 

circumvent or evade U.S. sanctions laws;  
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e. Within 30 days of the execution date of the Agreement, the Company shall 

notify employees with responsibility for sanctions compliance of the 

Company’s compliance obligations under the Agreement and the criminal 

conduct admitted to in the Statement of Offense and shall certify to the 

Offices in the Company’s first Quarterly Report that such notification has 

been completed and shall provide the Offices with a copy of such notice. 

Corporate Compliance Reporting

6. For the term of its corporate probation, the Company shall provide the Offices with 

Quarterly Reports within thirty days after the end of each calendar quarter (“Quarterly Reports”) 

describing the status of the Company’s continued improvements to its sanctions compliance 

programs as required by the Agreement. The Quarterly Reports must include specific and detailed 

accounts of the Company’s sanctions and compliance improvements and shall identify any 

violations of U.S. sanctions laws that have come to the attention of the Company’s legal and 

compliance personnel during the reporting period. In the event the Offices find that there exists a 

change of circumstances sufficient to eliminate the need for any portion of the reporting 

requirements set forth in this paragraph, the Offices may, in their sole discretion, choose to suspend 

or terminate the reporting requirements in whole or in part. As the reports may include proprietary, 

financial, confidential, and competitive business information, and as public disclosure could 

impede government investigations, these reports shall remain non-public except as otherwise 

agreed to by the parties in writing. The Offices in their sole discretion may determine that 

disclosure would further the discharge of their duties and responsibilities or is otherwise required 

by law, and under such circumstances may disclose the reports after providing the Company notice 
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of their intent to disclose (but not the identity of party to whom the disclosure will be made) and 

an opportunity to be heard as to any necessary redactions or other concerns.

7. During the term of the Company’s corporate probation, the Offices, as they deem 

necessary and upon request to the Company, shall, subject to applicable laws and regulations: (a) 

be provided by the Company with access to any and all non-privileged books, records, accounts, 

correspondence, files, and any and all other documents or other electronic records, including 

emails, of the Company and its personnel, representatives, agents, and affiliates that it controls

relating to any matters described or identified in the Quarterly Reports; and (b) have the right to 

interview any officer, employee, agent, consultant, or representative of the Company concerning 

any non-privileged matter described or identified in the Quarterly Reports. 

8. The Company shall notify the Offices of any criminal, civil, administrative or 

regulatory investigation, inquiry, or action, of the Company or its current directors, officers, 

employees, consultants, representatives, and agents related to the Company’s compliance with 

U.S. sanctions laws and regulations, to the extent permitted by the agency conducting the 

investigation or action and applicable laws and regulations, including, without limitation, rules and 

regulations regarding the disclosure of confidential supervisory information. To the extent 

necessary to fulfill this requirement, the Company shall immediately seek the approval of such 

regulators to disclose such criminal, civil, administrative or regulatory investigation, inquiry or 

action to the Offices. Subject to approval by its regulators, it is understood that the Company shall 

promptly notify the Offices of (a) any deficiencies, failings, or matters requiring attention with 

respect to the Company’s sanctions compliance program identified in an examination report by 

any regulator within 10 business days of approval from such regulator to share such information; 

and (b) any steps taken or planned to be taken by the Company to address the identified deficiency, 
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failing, or matter requiring attention. The Offices may, in their sole discretion, direct the Company 

to provide other reports about its sanctions compliance program as warranted.
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